NORMAN PLANNING COMMISSION
REGULAR SESSION MINUTES

APRrIL 11, 2013

The Planning Commission of the City of Norman, Cleveland County, State of Okiahoma, met in
Regular Session in the Council Chambers of the Norman Municipal Building, 201 West Gray
Street, on the 111 day of April 2013, Notice and agenda of the meeting were posted at the
Norman Municipal Building and online at hitp://www.normanok.gov/content/boards-
commissions at least twenty-four hours prior to the beginning of the meeting.

Chairman Chris Lewis called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.
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ltem No. 1, being:

RoLL CALL
MEMBERS PRESENT Curtis McCarty
Jim Gasaway
Roberta Pailes
Cindy Gordon
Dave Boeck
Sandy Bahan
Tom Knotts
Chris Lewis
MEMBERS ABSENT Andy Sherrer
A guorum was present.
STAFF MEMBERS PRESENT Susan Connaors, Director, Planning &

Community Development
Jane Hudson, Principal Planner
Ken Danner, Subdivision Development
Manager
Roné Trombie, Recording Secretary
Leah Messner, Asst. City Attorney
Larry Knapp. GIS Analyst il
Terry Floyd, Development Coordinator
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ltem No. 12, being:

CONSIDERATION OF AN APPLICATION SUBMITTED BY BRECKENRIDGE LAND ACQUISITION, L.P. FOR
PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF IMHOFF ROAD APPROXIMATELY 900 FEET
EAST OF CLASSEN BOULEVARD.

ltem No. 12a, being:

RESOLUTION NO. R-1213-113 - BRECKENRIDGE LAND ACQUISITION, L.P. REQUESTS AMENDMENT OF THE
NORMAN 2025 LAND USE AND TRANSPORTATION PLAN (LUP-1213-9) FROM INDUSTRIAL DESIGNATION TO MEDIUM
DENSITY RESIDENTIAL DESIGNATION FOR PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF IMHOFF ROAD
APPROXIMATELY 900 FEET EAST OF CLASSEN BOULEVARD.

ITEMS SUBMITTED FOR THE RECORD:

1. 2025 Map
2. Staff Report
3. Pre-Development Summary

ltem No. 12b, being:

ORDINANCE NO. O-1213-41 — BRECKENRIDGE LAND ACQUISITION, L.P. REQUESTS REZONING FROM A-2, RURAL
AGRICULTURAL DISTRICT, TO PUD, PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT, FOR 18.52 ACRES OF PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED
ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF IMHOFF ROAD APPROXIMATELY 900 FEET EAST OF CLASSEN BOULEVARD.

ITEMS SUBMITTED FOR THE RECORD:

1. Location Map
2. Staff Report
3. PUD Narrative

ftem No. 12¢, being:

PP-1213-16 -- CONSIDERATION OF A PRELIMINARY PLAT SUBMITTED BY BRECKENRIDGE LAND ACQUISITION, L.P.
(SMC CONSULTING ENGINEERS, P.C.) FOR ASPEN HEIGHTS ADDITION, A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR
18.52 ACRES OF PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED ON THE SOUTH SIDE OF IMHOFF ROAD APPROXIMATELY /s MILE EAST OF
CLASSEN BOULEVARD (HiGHWAY No. 77).

ITEMS SUBMITTED FOR THE RECORD:
Location Map

Preliminary Piat

Staff Report

Transportation Impacts

Preliminary Site Plan

Greenbelt Commission Comments

L S

PRESENTATION BY STAFF:

1. Jane Hudson — We have two applications before us for Breckenridge Land Acquisition:
one for the NORMAN 2025 Land Use Plan amendment. The 2025 map shows Industrial
Designation, Commercial, Medium Density Residential, Low Density Residential, Mixed Use, and
Office Designations in this area. As proposed, the subject tract would become Medium Density
Residential Designation on the Land Use Plan. The request on the rezoning application would go
from A-2 fo a Planned Unit Development. The existing zoning is currently A-2, with industrial to
the east, Commercial to the west. We have some Planned Unit Developments on the north side
of Imhoff Road for medium density apartments. The existing land use in that area consists of the
industrial, office on the north, a single-family home adjacent to the site, commercial, and some
additional office, with apartments on the north. This fract of land was set aside with an Industrial
Designation in the 2020 as well as the 2025 Land Use Plan. One policy in the 2025 is to direct
environmentally responsible industriial growth onto suited properties for that industrial
development. A second policy is to protect suitable industrial land from residential conversion
and encroachment by (1) identifying and rezoning land to industrial use, if possible; (2) critically
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reviewing rezoning requests for conversion of industrial land fo non-industrial uses; and ({3)
assessing the impact of incompatible land uses adjacent to these industrial uses. In March of
2010, staff completed an Industrial Land Use Study in response to another area that was being
looked at to change from an Industrial land use designation to essentially a Mixed Use area - it
was consisting of commercial, office, multi-family, and some single-family use as well, | believe.
The results of the study revealed that almost 849 acres have been rezoned and designated for
uses other than industrial uses. This fract of land is of adequate size and location for an industrial
use. The south side of Imhoff, as | showed in those slides, was never really intended for residential
use — it was set aside for commercial and industrial designations. As applicatioins are processed
through the Planning Department, staff is charged with making a recommendation for those
projects. In this case, due to the incompatible land uses between the existing industrial area
and the proposed residential, as well as the policies that | mentioned earlier, staff is unable to
support the request for the amendment to the Land Use Plan and the rezoning. | believe we did
have two letters of protest, as well as a letter of support, which brought us to 6% support and
40.4% protest within the nofification area. The applicant's representative is here with a
presentation as well as the applicant if you have any questions of them.

2. Mr. McCarty — Is the decision not to support this based off of the comments about the
industrial use in the 2025 Plang s that the main reason the City is not supporting this or is there
more to it than just thate

Ms. Hudson — | can speak to what we're charged with as far as the 2025. We're here to
enforce those policies. The incompatibility between the industrial and residential use is all kind of
bundled into the policies in the plan.

Mr. McCarty - We had a study of the industrial land use several years ago, | believe, that
the City had prepared for the Planning Commission. The absorption rate of industial land in
Norman is pretty low, from what | remember. Has that changed since that report?

Ms. Connors — No, | don't believe that the absorption rate has changed, but one of the
things that was pointed out in that study is that if we had larger tracts of industrial land, we
should keep those intact, because what we were doing was losing some of the larger fracts. We
already have industrial development on the south side of Imhoff, and this could e an expansion
area of industrial land and that would create a larger block of industrial land, rather than
breaking it up info smaller pieces.

PRESENTATION BY THE APPLICANT:

1. Sean Rieger, 136 Thompson Drive, representing the applicant — First, let me just say
congratulations to the one that's not here tfonight, Mr. Andy Sherrer, who, as we speak, is about
to stand up in front of 550 people and take the Chairmanship of the Chamber of Commerce. So
congratulations to Andy Sherrer, who is not here tonight for that reason.

Thank you for our opportunity to address you tonight. This is a multi-family student housing
project that is before you. We're going to talk at some length, so | hope you'll give me your
indulgence to address all the points and the concerns that are in the staff report and that will be
raised tonight. You're going to hear from three of us. I'm going fo sit down very quickly so that
Tom McCaleb will tell you what it is we're proposing and how we've designed if. Then you're
going to hear from the applicant themselves as to who is proposing this. Then | will be back up
here and tell you why we want you to approve of it. So, first, Mr. Tom McCaleb is going fo take
you through the design.

2. Tom McCaleb, SMC Consulting Engineers — This application tonight will go into great
depth. | will keep my comments to the engineering. This application is different from some
previous, because staff has indicated the design, from an engineering and architectural point of
view, is not the issue that controls the decision to approve this site. That's pretty good. Meetings
with the adjacent owners — Hitachi — have not realized any room for reconciliation for land use.
However, the matter will be acknowledged as the PowerPoint presentation by Mr. Rieger. My
dialogue will consider design and engineering principles. My firm, SMC, secured a licensed
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surveyor in the beginning to check this property out, survey it, get topographic information o
determine what we got. We secured that services and we based all of our data based upon
the topo. Also, to respond fo traffic issues, we hired Traffic Engineering Consultants to perform a
traffic impact analysis to determine if the units, the design, and the flow of this tract will work.
You will find in your staff report on page 12¢-5 the results of that study, and you will find that staff
is supporting the TA and findings of that traffic report. There is also an oil well on this site. We did
not know it was there in the beginning until we did the survey. There is a well there. Upon
investigation of the well, we found the well is plugged. So we had to redesign our site plan to
accommodate the setback that's required by the City ordinance to accommodate that well.
So we revised the site plan, fixed it, and made sure that the site plan does accommodate those
areas, and it does. You can see now that it does flow around — we can pave over it; we just
can't build over it. So we've accommodated the oil well issue. In addition, the water lines.
There's an existing water line that's adjacent on Imhoff Road that serves the area along the
drive. We constructed a water system to accommodate the site and had it circulate
throughout the tract of land. Upon visiting with staff and with the topo and survey, we found
there is an existing water line right there in the right-of-way of Highway 9. It's a large 24" line.
The City has suggested that we either tap to that line, or oversize our infernal lines. We've
elected to tap to that line. So we will now have a connectivity water loop system that will
connect here, and through the site up to there, and internally circulate the water so that we
have all the domestic requirements satisfied and fire protection satisfied. Sanitary sewer. The
site has an existing sewer line on Imhoff that drains back to the west, and it satisfied a portion of
the site but not all of it. So we entertained the idea of maybe putting a pump station in fo
accommodate that. But, here again, with some help of staff, we found that there is an existing
sewer line in Classen and the plat of this fract of land right there was platted and gives us a 17
utility easement. So we are going to take the sewer from this corner and go down the fract to
Classen and tie to the existing line. So there's no lift stafion required. So it's all gravity flow
system and staff is safisfied with that. The drainage situation. The water, as the sewer, drains o
the west. In the site plan, you'll see that Hitachi has an existing detention area that drains the
water back this direction and there's an existing pond right there that was built by the land
owner and that water discharges to this pond right here. We're going fo take that pond - that
was a manmade pond — and relocate if right here. So this pond will be gone and would be built
here. We would still accommodate the water that is presently draining from the property to the
east. It will collect it, put it into our system, and discharge it info this area right here. In brief, we
satisfied all those requirements. Transportation, water, sewer use. And on staff report you will
note it on page 12c-4, the preliminary plat, they recommend approval. With that, | will let Mr.
Charles Vatterott speak. Thank you.

3. Charlie Vatterott, Executive Vice President of Development for Aspen Heights — |
appreciate the opportunity to be here this evening. Aspen Heights is excited about the
prospects of being in Norman. A litfle bit of background of who we are, where we are, what we
do. Aspen Heights is a full-service development, construction, and management company
based out of Texas. Over the last several years you can see just a list of some of the projects that
we've had and, basically, kind of gives you an idea of our capacity. We have completed over
9 000 beds; we have another 5,000 beds under construction. We are a cottage-style student
housing development company. So, basically, it's what you see there. We build kind of new
urban subdivisions — smaller front yards. These are rented by college students, although they're
open to anybody. We wouldn't want to get in a situation where we — you know, fair housing
things — if a family wanted to rent in there, they certainly could. Those give you kind of a picture
of our product. Our portfolio averages over 95% leased. We're excited about the Norman
market for a number of reasons. The supply/demand dynamics in this market are very favorable,
especially for the cottage product. And, from a location perspective, the site actually could not
be better. Again, some streetscapes. It gives you an idea. We're not trying fo maximize
densities here: we're looking at providing a superior product and services to our client. So
nothing over two story. These are bedrooms that have their own bathrooms and walk-in closets
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— very nice communities. If you have any particular questions about Aspen Heights, where we
are, what we do — based out of Texas. We do have a development in your state going on in
Stilwater. | know that's the other university; | don't know if I'm allowed to say the word Stillwater.
That's doing very well. Matter of fact, we are over 90% pre-leased for the fall in that community,
so we're doing very well. Thank you, again, for your fime and if you have questions, certainly
available after our presentation.

4. Sean Rieger — Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Now let's spend some time talking about whatis
at issue tonight. As you've heard, you now know what we're going to build. We're essentially
going to build virtually the same concept that is immediately across the street to the north — The
Cofttages project. That was done by Capstone, another national producer of that product. This
is Aspen Heights. But virtually the same style and manner of product as immediately across the
street. So what we're going to focus on is really two issues tonight, because that's what is at the
forefront of this project. We know now that, as we've heard from staff and others, there's really
not an issue with the design, with the style, with the concept. We've not heard any negativity of
any kind as to that. We've heard it put best, I think, by staff in one sentence, and this is in your
staff report. It says, “The question is not whether the development itself has been correcily
designed, but whether this is the appropriate location for a multi-family development.” | want
you to look at the screen, if you would, please, and you will see the center of thatl screen is
showing what we're proposing right there as this multi-family development and around if, within
about 700 yards in any direction, you're going to find multi-family all around it - everywhere. So |
could probably stop right now and answer that question at the top of the page by saying is this
an appropriate location for multi-family by just showing you that. | think, on its face, that says
yes. But, obviously, | won't. We'll talk through another few issues here.

2025 also supports this site. 2025, as I've shown you many fimes and I'll keep showing you,
Goal 1, Policy 1, says we must accommodate a project year 2025 population of 137,000 people.
That's in 12 years and right now we're only at about 112,000 people. We have a lot of people
left 1o accommodate in our community, and many of those also are students who look for
newer and better concepts and places to live all the time. Goal 2 says promote a compact
urban area. This, of course, does that. This is a site that is completely surrounded by utilities
infrastructure. It's all there. In fact, one of the great benefits of this — and this is down under
Goal 2 — it says support growth that minimizes operational costs. Well, this is one of those great
projects for a city in that it's right in an area that has all the infrastructure and utilities it needs.
Classen and Imhoff has already been improved substantially so the traffic has been solved
there. Water lines, sewer lines — they're all there. And the developer is going fo build out this site
and own it and maintain it. All of those streets inside this site are not going fo be city streets;
they're going o be the developer's streets so you get a great bang for your buck in that, as
Goal 2 says, you don't even have to take care of what's built there, but you get the population
so you supported number 1. |t also says encourage commercial and residential development
on the urban east side. It actually instructed us, let's start putting some population on the east
side in the urban context. We're doing that. And | thought most instructively here was Goal 3
under Housing and Neighborhoods. And | read this and | thought about it and | remember why
this is a goal. it reads encourage housing designed for university student occupancy -~ that's us -
that's tonight ~ in areas suitable for high intensity uses. | thought about it and | thought, where
did that come from2 And then | remembered where that came from and | think what
happened was, if you'll remember back in the 90s and so forth, we had a great deal of
contfroversy in Norman because what was happening was students were starting to infiltrate the
established single-family neighborhoods of our community and it was a problem. It became a
serious problem. That's why that goal was written.  What that goal essentially says is that
students maybe aren't that good of neighbors and compatible for single-family neighborhoods,
so let's find a place to put them. High infensity uses is where to put them. They're not a problem
in those areas. And | think you're going fo hear in a minute that they haven't been a problem
on Imhoff either. So this is supported by the goals of 2025.
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Two issues tonight basically are Hitachi and whether we can give this site up from the
industrial land use. That's really what is at the core of the debate tonight. Let's talk about
Hitachi. They're here tonight. They'll talk to you, I'm sure. Hitachi protested this. Hitachi came
to the Pre-Development hearing, and at the Pre-Development hearing they were quite blunf.
They came to the hearing and Pre-Development is intended to be a dialogue — an exchange of
information — what are our concerns and is there anything that we can do for you? [I'm just
going tfo say, in all candor, it was not much of a dialogue. They sat in front of us and said we
don't want you here. We're going to beat this zoning and we want no part of it. It was very
candid. I'll give them their opportunity to do that. So we left that meeting. That was really the
only comments at the Pre-Development that we heard. We then left that meeting and we
started to reach out to Hitachi. We thought let's get into an even more informal setting; let's
meet with them: let's see what we can do, because we have had success in the past on Imhoff
with dealing with Hitachi. Nobody means them harm. Nobody wanfs fo exclude them or cause
any interference upon them, and nobody has in the past. We've worked well with them in the
past. The Capstone Cottages project fo the upper left, right there - I was the zoning attomey on
that. We dealt with Hitachi at that fime. And one of the things, for instance, that we did on that
was every single lease that gefts signed on that site has a paragraph in it that says you are living
across the sireet from a high manufacturing facility.  You recognize that now, you know that
now, and you're assuming that risk and you're not going to complain later. We can do things
like that. We offered that to Hitachi. Another thing that happened - right over here this was just
last year. Hitachi protested this site right across the street to the north. That got approved with a
super majority vote of Council fo Medium Density Residential — more dense than this proposed
tonight — and that was protested by Hitachi. Something we did there - we met with Hitachi
there. Now, at that meeting, they said it was cheaper to protest than it was fo buy the land, but
we worked with them and we said what can we do. They were concerned about their tfruck
stalls right here. We had shown some residential out in the front here, and what we did was we
took the clubhouse for that multi-family project and we said, okay, let's do this. So we modified
the PUD and we put the clubhouse right here, so in essence the office of the property became
the buffer between Hitachi and the residences behind it. We accommodated them. And it got
approved. So we can do some things. We did finally meet with Hitachi at 2:00 Monday this
week. They agreed to meet with us. We went to the Hitachi headquarters. We sat down with
their president, a couple officers, an attorney, NEDC and we talked again with them. We went
info this meeting and with good faith said again we're here fo dialogue. We're here 1o see
what can we do, as we have in the past, to accommodate you — hear your concemns. | will say,
in all candor, it was blunt again. In fact, they looked at us and said we thought we made
ourselves clear. That was the response. We fried again. Tell us, though, what are your
concerns? What are you concerned about2 Then they started felling us a couple things. They
said they planned on adding an addition to the west here, and they were concerned that that
would be too close. | want to note that there's already an oil and gas road right here. There's
already pipelines right here. And there's already a substantial large quite enormous mature free
line that we intend to do nothing with. But we asked them, again, what can we do — and Mr.
Vatterott specifically threw out a number of things and he said we can do additional
landscaping; we can design buffer areas, setbacks; we can do fencing — whatever height —
whatever material is reasonable; we can rearrange the Aspen site plan; we can do the lease
agreement thing like we did at Capstone. And, again, the response was i thought we made
ourselves clear. They refused to work with us to say any of those things might help them. That
was the response we got. The meeting then kind of turned and | said, well, tell us some of these
complaints. What are the complaints that you've gotten, because they told us their fear was
complaints — when residential starts moving close they would get complaints. | asked what are
your complaints?2 And the first thing out of the president's mouth was, well, we had a complaint
that we were disturbing a bee colony. And the bee colony he's talking about is — it's kind of a
legendary thing around this area. Right there, just north of Hitachi and their fruck bays, is an
older gentleman that has a bee colony and they were disturbing that and that was what the
president told us, that we were disturbing the bee colony and we got a complaint about that.
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Now | was looking for something about residents, basically. What was the complaints? | asked
him again, what other complaints have you had? His response was, well, a few years back,
back when these apartment buildings were getting built, a sewer line got backed up and we
were blamed for it from the construction work of those apartments. Again, | was trying to see
what were the complaints from residents in the area, because that's the focus of the protest. So
then | just asked him point blank, | said have you had much problems with the Cottages?¢ Tell
me about that issue. That's what we're going to build. That is very close to where we're going
to build it. And he said this, and | quickly wrote it down on my yellow pad - I've got it right there,
in fact, if you want to look at it. He said, no, not much complaints from the Cottages. Hasn't
had any complaints from the Cottages. That's what we were told Monday. We're proposing
cotftages. The complaints they've had is a bee colony and a consfruction problem down the
street, but not the residents across the sireet. It hasn't been a problem. We don't anticipate
that this one will be, either. They can still do their addition. In fact, they do not need this land at
all to do an addition. They're going to put their employees' parking under the addition we're
told. Well, if it's a very hazardous or dangerous practice of whatever they're going to build
there, | wouldn’t suspect they'd be putting their employees under it. So | think Hitachi can be
easily accommodated. We don't see the danger there. We don't see the concern there and
the complaints that we've been told don't warrant it.

There is another issue with Hitachi, and 1 think it's fair that the Commission knows about it,
because you had a lefter submitted to you that talked about it, It was the property owner next
to Hitachi. It was Mrs. Todd and the Tulius family. Long time family in Norman. That is their
homestead going way back — many, many decades back. They didn't come to Hitachi; Hitfachi
came to them. They've been there for generations. They've been there for decades. Time for
them to move on on the 20-acre site that is in play tonight. That site is owned by a number of
heirs — it's not specifically owned by Mrs. Todd. This 20 acres is owned by a number of heirs. |
think a number of them are sitting behind me tonight. Mr. and Mrs. Todd own fhis site right up
here where the house is. And what happened, basically, is, of course, over the years - and | can
just tell you when people have come in fown looking for land, many have cited that land. Many
people have looked at this location. There's not many open areas left on the periphery of OU
and that area. What happened was recently the heirs have decided it is fime - we're ready —
to sell this land. Aspen came calling and Hitachi came calling. Aspen made an offer. Aspen
wanted the 20 acres — 18 or so right here in this area. Aspen didn't need the home. Hitachi
came calling and Hitachi wanted the home. And this was all detailed in the letter and anybody
can come up here and correct me if they want, but I've read the letter and i've takked to the
Todds and this is what | understand occurred. What occurred was Aspen said, fine. We don't
need the home and fhis is our price. Hitachi declined to match that price. More importantly,
Hitachi said we want that home. We won't buy it without the home. The Todds are in their 80s —
maybe | shouldn't have said that —I'm sorry, Mr. and Mrs. Todd. But the Todds are not ready to
go find another home and put down a mortgage and start over again. But they were wiling to
and they said that to Hitachi. Okay. we're wiling fo do that, but we're not ready 1o start a new
mortgage somewhere so you have to buy the house — the improvements, the property — to help
us replace our cost and relocate. In essence, relocate us. Hitachi declined to do that. Their
offer was we'll put down an 18 month option coniract. When we're ready to buy, we'll give you
90 days and you're moving out. Todds said no for less of a price, too, by the way, than Aspen
was offering. The Todds couldn't do that, so they declined, and they went with Aspen. And so
Aspen is here tonight, and that's why they're here tonight.

| think one of the things that's important for you to consider — one of the hallmarks of
zoning — one of the hallmarks of land use is that we do effectively try to put land into its highest
and best use fo the extent we can appropriately do that - to the extent we can properly do
that. So what is highest and best use2 We never really talked about that much in the past, but |
thought maybe we ought to talk about that tonight. What is highest and best use? Is it industrial
or is it multi-family2 I'll give you Black's Law - Black's Law is a big old law book that we all use in
law and it's kind of the Webster's Dictionary of law. Here's what Black’s Law says highest and
best use is: “What condemned property's fair market value would reaiistically be if the owner
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were hypothetically allowed to adapt his property to its most advantageous and valuable use.”
well, you just had it play out and decided for you. Was the highest and best use industrial?
Apparently not, because the industrial buyer would not pay the most valuable price for it. The
highest and best user — the multi-family person — would. The industrial user would not matchit. Is
it an appropriate use? Well, | just showed you that — make your argument as you wish — but
directly across the street and all around it are multi-family uses. So it's an appropriate use and
it's the higher value use. It’s the highest and best use. This Commission should support it for that
reason. We have precedent around Hitachi; I've shown it fo you before. Just recently in the last
few years the Cottages got built. Just this past - | believe it was about a year ago - the
Commission and the Council, through a super majority vote, approved the multi-family to the
north. | think the policy is clearly set. We believe we can do this and we can properly
accommodate Hitachi. Hitachi still has 30 acres to the east, by the way; they own over 70 acres.
They still have 30 acres to the east. Thank goodness they're a very profitable company; they
have $6 billion in cash sitfing in the bank is what their last annual report showed. They can figure
it out — | hope they can figure it out, and I'm glad they can figure it out. But they are not what
we would say is a land-locked property that has nowhere to go. They have 30 acres
immediately to the east of them. The only thing in the way is an asphalt parking lof which, as
anyone knows, can be easily paved over — they can move parking right down to here. There
are many options for Hitachi still on that site. This, in no way, land-locks them fo no options. The
distances are really pretty similar, actually. You see them now on the screen. They have natural
buffers, again, right here with the oil and gas road, the pipelines, the trees. | was falking actually
to Mrs. Todd earlier - you know, have you heard noises and disruptions¢ Has it been a problem
for you2 Not at all, she said. | want you to understand, when we met with Hitachi, they met with
us in lab coats, not coveralls. This is not a loud mining operation of any kind. This is a closely
enclosed high-tech manufacturer that is not a terribly obtrusive or nuisance fo the area. So we
can accommodate Hitachi. That's my message tonight. The fear should not be warranted to
turn this down.

We also have a good history in Norman of accommodating industrial users very close fo,
in fact, single-family users and we have a history of policy that has approved these projects. You
see on the upper left is Astellas; right south of it, across the street from Cedar, is Eagle CIiff. |
come here quite a bit; | haven't seen anybody from Eagle CIiff standing at this podium
bemoaning that we've created a terrible tragedy for them. | haven't seen it in the papers. |
think it has worked. On the upper right you see the Norman Business Park - Afbon
Manufacturing, and you see a single-family lot addition right there, not much distance
difference than what we're talking about tonight. On the lower left — this is probably the more
recent example — you see Sysco right there. And it was ironic fonight when | heard the
Chairman read off the Consent Docket, because one of the items you read off was the final plat
of Founders Park, immediately to the north of Sysco. That was hotly contested - heavily
contested — and that was contested on the exact same topic that I'm about fo go into depth
on, was can we lose an industrial fract. That one, the Council said yes. And when they said yes,
the president and CEO of Sysco stood at this podium and he said they would have nothing else
to do with Norman and they would move. What happened? They expanded. They expanded
right there. You can see the single-family homes right there next to Sysco. It's happening in
Norman. If has not been a problem in Norman. We can accommodate this. It shouldn't be
something we fear. Here is another large-scale view of what I'm talking about. You see on the
right — you see the yellow area - that is low-density residential. We're proposing medium density
residential. That's low-density residential, and the gray is industrial. Huge areas of interface all
over this area. This is Sysco right up in here — here you see the aerial. This is all going fo get
developed out as single-family residential - all of it right next to indusirial. We've
accommodated it. It's planned in 2025. The policy has not been denied. So we can
accommodate mulfi-family next to industrial, parficularly the kinds of industrials we have in
Norman.

So let's go to the second issue tonight. The second issue is, can we lose this land as an
industrial piece of land2 We've debated it before hotly with the Founders Park one, that you
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approved final plat on tonight - that was the Connally farm. We also debated this hotly for the
Campus Crest/Victory Park site on Southeast 12th. Same issue. Big fracts of land that were 2025
industrial that were being promoted to change to multi-family under one case, multi-family,
commercial and single-family in another case. Same position of staff. In fact, the industrial land
use report they're talking about was generated out of that Founders Park zoning: that's when it
came up and the Council went ahead and said yes we can lose that industrial piece. So why
did they say thate Well, let’s just look at the numbers. These aren't my numbers; this is straight
out of your documents. Industrial land — 2025 — when you look at what was planned in the 2025
document on the top, you will see there was 1,100 acres put in 2025 for industrial planned uses.
When you look on the bottom chart, you will see that this was the actual demand projected,
and the actual demand of acres was 198. So they actually planned 556% - or 5% times the
number of industrial acres that they thought would ever be used by 2025. They did that for a
good reason — because of what we're falking about tonight. They knew that the market
pressure would probably be stronger for the other uses so let's put in ample - generous —
amounts of industrial. They did. They did that properly. But that was in anficipation of this
happening. It didn't say we shouldn't do this; it says that's okay if we do this because we have
ample amounts of industrial. The absorption rate — what we talk about meaning how much of
that industrial land was going to be used a year — was roughly going to be 10 acres. Again, the
demand was over 20 years — 2004 to 2025 — 198 acres, so they anticipated about 10 acres a year
of industrial land to be used. So let's look at what has happened, though. Let's look af the
actual history of what has happened. Again, at the top, they intended - you see this chart right
out of 2025 - they anticipated industrial warehousing uses floor area generated — and these are
five-year increments — and they anticipated 500,000 square feet — 434, et cetera — here's the
acres — 50 — you roughly have — that's about a 5:1 margin of acres o site — roughly on each of
those five-year increments they averaged that out - it's about 465,000 square feet every five
years is what they anticipated would happen. What has actually happened? This report down
here is the status update — | got this from the City Clerk's office just last week and this is actual
data. This is actual numbers from our city as to what has actually occurred in the sense of
square footage being built. There it is right down there — you can't see it - but that number is
162,000 square feet over the past five years. It was anficipated 465,000 square feet; we've
actually done 162,000 square feet. We're actually absorbing about a third of what 2025 thought
we would absorb. Remember, | told you the absorption rate thought to be in 2025 was 10 acres
a year. We're actually doing about a third of that, so we're actually doing about 3 acres a year
of industrial land. 2025 set aside 1,100 acres of industrial land. We're absorbing 3 a year. I'll let
you think about that for a moment. It shouldn't take long fo realize we have a ton of indusirial
land — far, far, far in excess of anything we're absorbing — anything we're using. There is no
shortage of industrial land. We had 5% times put out there so that we could use if; we've only
used a third of even what was projected — a vast, vast difference. And, in fact, staff has
recognized that back when Founders Park — the one read off the final plat - this was from that
staff report. It said we know that we have a surplus; therefore, it must not be a concern to lose
some of the industrial land designated in the Plan. | want you to look at 2025 right here. You
can just see what we're talking about. Remember? | just told you we're absorbing 3 acres a
year. Well, 3 acres is not much. Here's that little site right here — 18 acres right here. If you let this
go, Hitachi still has about 30 acres over here. You sfill have the Saxon Office Park over here
painted industrial. You still have a couple of sites in the Norman Business Park. You still have a
site over here, and you still have all of Classen down here, and I'm not even showing you north
Norman. We still have a lot of industrial land left. And at 3 acres per year, we're going to have it
for a long time. It's not a problem.

So let's talk about what we've talkked about before and that what happens, then, when
you have these lands in south Norman and you have them in the private ownership of
somebody like a historical estate — a homestead. First, | want to read what Mr. Don Wood said
on April 8, 2010 at this microphone. He said, we would like to be focused on something to the
north — and this was about industrial land — he said, because there's a 20 minute exira commute
from the north end of Norman all the way around Highway 9 to that partficular area - and that
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was the context of the south industrial area. So the employers that are down there are saying
that it's a problem for us. He told the Commission and Council that we needed industrial land
on the north — Will Rogers, Oklahoma City — we needed that connection. The time around fo
here was not working any more. | think, in fact, that's why, perhaps, you see that the University
North Park and industrial areas have not worked very well in southeast Norman. Hitachi is forlorn,
really, in that they told us in the meeting they came here in the 80s and they expected this
whole area to be industrial, and they're hanging onto that idea. Redlity is it's just not there, and
maybe that's why. Maybe that's why, because this area just doesn't work for the indusftrial
because it's too far away from Oklahoma City for that 20-minute extra drive.

But what | want you to also focus on, when you look at the southeast area of Norman, is |
want you to think about Mr. and Mrs. Todd and | want you to think about the Tulius family, and |
want you to think about that if you make a decision tonight that this ought to stay industrial, then
they must compete with the University of Oklahoma and the State of Oklahoma for the South
Research Campus. They must compete with the NEDC, funded by the City of Norman, Moore-
Norman VoTech, and the University of Oklahoma with the Saxon Business Park, Norman Business
Park — those areas. You will put them in that position. Can they do it¢ | doubt it. The Todds are
great people, but | don't know how you compete with a government. That's what you're doing
to them. Remember 3 acres per year of industrial land is what we're actually absorbing. Ten
acres is what's even projected. This community adopted a TIF — a lot of people talk about the
TIF and most of the people talk about the retail area of the TIF. There was another whole area of
the TIF — it doesn't get much discussion because, again, not much has happened up there
industrially, but this is from staff reports — not our words ~ approximately 175 acres in the University
North Park TIF area is still available for industrial purposes. That's right up here. North of Rock
Creek Road. That whole area is not intended to be retail. That whole area is intended to be a
multitude of uses, 175 acres of which can be industrial land. Do the math on that one. How long
does 3 acres a year cause us to use up 175 acres? That is funded with public money -- $54
million of which — the Tuliuses didn't get any public money. They don't have any public TIF
infrastructure to promote for their industrial site. But the City wants them to mothball it so that
somebody can go use it. The TIF, in its own project plan, says the atfraction of quality jobs
through economic development. Again, this area alone — 175 acres - heavily subsidized -
publicly funded - heavily promoted through the City, the University of Oklahoma Foundation - a
billion dollar foundation — through this City — that parcel alone, at 3 acres absorption rate — that
can accommodate our industrial need for 58 years. s the Tuliuses going to stick around for 58
years? Is that what we're going to do — make them sit on that land for 58 yearse | hope not. This
is what they're competing against. As Ms. Connors said, the City wants them to sit there and
keep that land as an industrial parcel. Well, here you go — this is the NEDC. This is screen shots
from their website. Here's their business parks. Here's their research parks. University of
Oklahoma Partners Place — they're on their seventh Partners Place building. Here's the University
North Park Corporate Center. Here's the Norman Business Park. Here's the Saxon Business Park.
Here's the OU Research Campus and | don't see the Tulius land. | don't see it. How are they
supposed to do thatz How is that supposed to happen? It's impossible. It's wrong. Ii's wrong
for a city to say that we're going fo make this family sit on industrial land while everybody for the
government around here is going to market all of these business park and industrial sites and
we're going to fund them with TIFs and we're going to fund them with all kinds of marketing
money. It's not right. This is what you're making the decision on fonight. Let's be very clear
about it. | will be as blunt as Hitachi was with us. Your decision tonight is, if you turn down this
zoning, you are telling the Tuliuses that you are going to deny them the highest and best use of
their property and you will be putting them in a position to do only one of two things. You'll be
putting them in a position that they will be forced to sell the land at a lower price and lesser
terms to Hitachi, or they can sit on that land and try to market it against the University of
Oklahoma, the City of Norman, and the NEDC atf an absorption rate of 3 acres a year. It's an
impossible position. It's a taking. That's what you're discussing tonight.

Yes, this site is appropriate for multi-family. it's across the street; it's down the street; it's all
around the street. You see the additions all around it. That's the Cottages right there across the
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street. That's all we're proposing. We've lined up the entries. It's the same concept. If's the
same thing. They've been there since 2006 — no complaints that we're aware of. Hitachi - |
asked three times in that meeting, tell me about complaints, didn't hear one. Ii's a good
project. It merits approval. You should support it. It provides a good place for OU students. It
provides a place they want. The Cottages stands at 99% occupancy routinely across the street.
This is what students seek; they deserve the right to have a good place fo live as well. it's a
recruitment factor for OU to have good places for them to go to. No negative impacts.
Industrial not needed. Clearly, | think we've proven that. It's correctly designed. With that, I'll
leave it fo others to discuss. I'm happy to answer your questions. | thank you very much for your
time, and please let us know if you have any questions.

5. Chairman Lewis — | didn't realize there was a well on that site. Can you walk me through
what the requirements of building around a well are? What proximity you have to stay away
from?

Mr. McCaleb - Yes. If the well is plugged, which it is, it has one requirement; if it's an
active well, it is different requirements. An active well is 125' radius of no-build area - stay away
from it. If it's plugged, you reduce it to 45' radius and you cannot build over the well itself, within
the 45', but you can pave over it. We've had some subdivisions that we've done in Norman
where we've had some wells that have been plugged and, with staff's support and if it makes
sense, we've actually built a street over it — public streets. The only criteria is that we can gain
access o that well if, for any reason, we need to. So it's been an area that you can ufilize it.
You can be adapted into the design, which we did. You just can't put a structure on top of it,
plugged or not plugged.

Chairman Lewis — So in this situation, we have a plugged well. There's no way now, or
any time in the future, that anything — a structure — could be built over that well. At the most, we
could have a parking lot¢

Mr. McCaleb — That's correct.

6. Ms. Pailes — One difference between this and some of the other places where residents
and industrial are joined is a lot of those are separated by streets. One of the places that would
be directly analogous might be the old historic neighborhood along Miller that has a dairy right
next door. That neighborhood shows up in front of City Council on a somewhat regular basis
with issues about being an industrial neighbor. One of their biggest complaints is fruck noise,
truck lights. Hitachi's loading dock is right there. If Hitachi expands to the west, it's really going
io be right there. Would you address fruck noise, truck traffic, fruck lights, and how you would
plan on sheltering your occupants from those annoyances, so that your occupants don't wind
up in front of City Council complaining?

Mr. Rieger — | appreciate that, Commissioner. We asked Hitachi in the meeting if we
could see these expansion plans they had and the gentleman held up one sheet of paper,
quickly flashed it, and wouldn't give us a copy. We asked for a copy, so that we could maybe
accommodate that. We weren't given a copy, so | don't know exactly. Presently, this wall right
here is just a big flat blank wall; there is no windows; there is no nothing on that wall. The truck
docks are all out here. In fact, you see our closest residence is not anywhere near the truck
docks. The truck docks are far more of a nuisance — should be - to the Cottages up here than
they would ever be down here.

Ms. Pailes — Are you planning on a masonry wall or any such thing?

Mr. Rieger - It's infended to be a gated community. | haven't actually asked the client
yet what the particular wall type would be. Do you want fo talk about that, Charlie, real quick?

Mr. Vatterot — It's a good question. We haven't got to that level of detail. One of the
things that we had proposed is that we would certainly look af whatever material, whatever
height fencing that Hitachi may think is appropriate or reasonable.

Ms. Pailes — Just an idle question - the little units with Cs on them — what are those?
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Mr. Vatterot — Those are townhomes. Those are two- and three-bedroom townhomes.
They're like row houses. We could go over each one of those codes, but I'd need some really
powerful glasses.

Mr. Rieger — Let me make one other comment, Commissioner, if | can. One thing we do
know that Hitachi showed us was the plan would come — their expansion would come right off
the edge of this building. You can see, for the vast majority of this site, that's not an issue. It is
literally only about four units right in here that that becomes an issue. And, again, what we
understood the expansion would be - the truck docks would remain out front. In fact, they did
describe a little bit - they said they would put employee parking over here under the expansion.
Again, they didn’t show us the plans, but I'm guessing as an architect that means there's
probably not fruck docks there. If there's employee parking, that also tells me it's probably not a
very loud or intense or dangerous use they're putting there.

Ms. Pailes — But parking lot lights.

Mr. Rieger — Well, we have parking lot right here as well. So we've gof the same parking
lot that people would be facing. Again, frankly, we would need fo know more about the
addition — and we tried, but we weren't given that information. But we've been welcoming and
open to put up the wall, a fence, buffering. It does have very large mature frees all along this
side. If the expansion ends just like it is right now, with just a blank empty end wall, | don't think
there's any issue there.

7. Ms. Gordon — Sean, maybe you can make this connection for me. Staff mentions that
the 2025 Plan, talking about accommodations for how many multi-family units based on «
population of 137,000, and that basically they need over 1,700 and we've basically permitted
well past that. And the gentleman remarked that supply and demand is very favorable in
Norman. Bottom line, are you guys going to be able to fill these2 | mean, it doesn't seem fome
that there's a lack of apartment space in Norman. It's not like the University student population
is increasing exponentially. And you're marketing this to students.

Mr. Vatterot — | can tell you from experience — and this is not just Charlie Vatterot's idea
of what works and what doesn’t work. Our banking relationships, especially in a time where - if
you saw the dynamic growth of the company, that was occurring during very difficult fimes in
the economy. So it's not just that Aspen Heights believes in the product - believes it will lease
very well. It's JPMorgan, Chase, Key, Frost, Arvest — all the big banks that see the same numbers.
So we'll put together market research. Say, for example, right across the street were the
Coftages, over 99% leased. We'll put together what our competitors, show that to the bankers.
The bankers will go out, say thank you, throw it away, go make their own competition list — look
at occupancies, absorption rates, rental rates — and come back, and they have come back
every fime backing up the numbers that we have found in the markets. We've been very
successful. It's something that we're completely confident. And, again, just as a reflection — the
closest community that we have is the one at that other university where it's now April and we're
well beyond 90% pre-leased, and the students didn't have anything to look at as far as walking
in. 1 think it was just this past week we finished our model and we leased, again, over 90%
without having something to look at. A lot of times what we do find - and it's actually we see as
a benefit, because we focus on college towns. There's a lot of times the residents that were in
older neighborhoods that were fraditionally designed — because students like to live in houses,
hence the new design with the cottage and our concept - is that we end up pulling some of
those students out and we end up giving them a chance to be with other students that like to
be in houses, but also have the amenities that are not available in some of the older fraditional
community subdivisions.

Ms. Gordon — So you're saying that it's not necessarily a population increase - it's @ shift,
maybe?

Mr. Vatterot — It can be. 1t can be a change in what people are willing to pay for and
what they like. It can be preference and change in demand.

Mr. Rieger — Let me add something to that. Commissioner, I'll relate a personal
experience. This happened in a public courtroom, so | can share it, but it was for the Cottages
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across the street. | was there on a landlord/tenant issue for the Cottages — same concept -
same thing. This was within the last year and a half. The judge got to talking with them about
the downturn — and that got built and occupied right before the downturn — about 2006, | think -
and then the downtumn. The lowest occupancy rate they ever hit, as expressed in the
courtroom, was 83%. In the last year or two since the market, they literally have — they have 600
beds, | think, up there. They rarely have more than a few beds. They run at 99% occupancy all
the time. So part of that is it's a concept that students apparently dearly love, and | think it's a
little bit like Charlie said, in that they like to live in neighborhoods - they like to live in a house kind
of setting. The problem is Norman had a big problem with that. They were doing that. And so,
as that policy of 2025 said —~ and these companies are no different. They say, well, they want to
live in that — we can come up with that. Let's put them in a setting like that. That's what the
Cottages did and it's been extremely successful.

8. Mr. Boeck — | think, when you talk about shifts in housing — | remember when | came here
to go to school, which is a long fime ago - when | moved out of the dorms, | fried to find an
apartment and the housing availability around campus was deplorable. You had lots of these
rental units that were just garages turned into apartments with window air conditioning units,
flooring below street level so they were flooded. So University and developers have come in
here and built good units, and | know my kids love them because they live in them. So that
might force some land owners or property owners fo do something different, which is what |
hoped would happen and it seems like it has happened. So the demand is there because the
kids are looking for good places, and dorms are being taken off-line. There are more studenfs.
Cate Center is being shifted, and apartments are being torn down.

9. Ms. Gordon — My concern is that, at some point, you're going to hit a saturation. You're
going to, because the University population isn't increasing that much. 1t's just not. | know the
numbers because | work there, like you do. At some point you're going to hit a saturation. This is
a massive unit. I'm not saying it's happening now. I'm just saying that that's a concern. This is o
disconnect from what the staff report says about the number of units we need and the number
we have. That's the issue | have.

10. Mr. McCarty — | would just like to follow up on Roberta’s comments. It looks like there's a
drive lane down the east boundary along Hitachi. How wide is thate¢ And then what is the
approximate proximity to the property line of the row houses?

Mr. Rieger — That's correct.

Mr. McCarty - So the buildings are actually sitting off of the property line a pretty good
distance.

Mr. Rieger — That's correct. | think roughly about 50 or 70’ off the east edge. Thereis a
drive lane and a parking bay. We have fo have a landscape buffer, foo.

Mr. McCarty — And the row houses are probably a litfle closer than that, approximately.
So, really, that's the closest buildings to the property line.

Mr. Rieger — Yes. | do want to make sure you understand this is not 500-some units, but
beds. If's a big difference.

1. Ms. Gordon — | have a hypothetfical. Looking at this picture, if you were to take the
residential areas that are north of Imhoff and the commercial and the industrial that's south of
Imhoff, and you were to switch them around and you would make all of the areas north of
Imhoff — basically switch their purposes — industrial — commercial -~ and the areas that are now
south of Imhoff would be residential. Would you stick in a commercial or industrial use right
between those two residential uses2 Would you do the opposite of what you're doing now,
essentially, if the areas fo the east and west were residentiale  Would you stick an industrial use
right smack in the middle between those two residential areas?

Mr. Rieger — | think it depends on what the use is. These are all pretty tied to what the
partficular use is. Multi-family, for instance, has been a very good buffer and fransition point all
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around Norman. | think of that apartment complex we did up in the northwest area of Norman
recently, and | showed you guys all of west Norman is commercial, RM-6 and then single-family.
Mulfi-family are good middle ground zoning pieces.

Ms. Gordon — But that's not what I'm asking. Where you have the residential going in
now, let's say it was surrounded on the east and west sides — flip what you're doing now,
essentially. So let's say it was surrounded on east and west sides with residential, would you stick
a Hitachi in between the two?

Mr. Rieger - If it was an office kind of clean industrial use, | wouldn't have a problem with
that. Again, they put them in industrial sites, but it's lab coats and not coveralls. [fit's a fairly
clean and unobtrusive kind of industrial use, | don't know that you would have a negativity.
We've seen it, in fact, on these other areas, as | showed you, with Astellas right next to Eagle Cliff.
Albon and the Norman Business Park right next to that one. Greenleaf Trails and Trailwoods —
those are right next to industrial tracts. No separation of multi-family or anything like it.

12. Mr. Knotts — You've mixed numbers, it appears. You talk about this target population and
you include students in that. Students are not included in population, so you can't use that as
an argument for this project. Do you agree with that, or not?

Mr. Rieger — Well, | would challenge you a litfle bit on that, Commissioner. What you build
for students means you don't necessarily have to build for the rest of the population. So you
provide openings for the rest of the population to move into.

AUDIENCE PARTICIPATION:

1. Don Wood, 2715 72nd¢ Avenue S.E., representing NEDC as the Executive Director - This is a
great project. | like the project. This is just not the place forit. Sean makes the arguments about
all the changes in industrial property and how we have so much. We also have a lot of places
you can put a project like this — stuff across the street - lofs of other areas and lots of other
places that this project could go that would be a lot more compatible. This particular piece of
property is right next to Hitachi. That's the problem. It's not across the sfreet. It's not separated
by anything. It's right next to Hitachi. George Wilson is going to get up here in a little bit and
he's going to talk to you about what their plans are. We fought hard to keep Hitachi. Three
years ago that company was almost going to leave Norman because they were in competition
to consolidate plants and we may or may not have won that consolidation move, and we did.
That has been a great thing for Norman. They've gone from 300 employees fo 500 employees.
George is going to talk about their next expansion. We want them 1o have the potential to do
what they need to do and continue to be a shining star in our community. Corporations make
noise. They have frucks. They have people coming and going. Many of them are 24-hour
operations. They're not compatible to neighborhoods. We don't need to encroach on them
and create an environment where they're living with complaints that they really can't do a lof
about, unless they close and move. We promised Hitachi when they came that this land would
be light industrial, and we get closer and closer and closer. And now we're right on fop of them
- right next to them. One of the things | heard that was very disturbing to me is that whoever will
pay the most for a particular piece of land ought to be able to do whatever they want with it. |
don't think that's what planning is about. | don't think that's what you're about. That you want
whoever can pay the most to get to do whatever they want to the property. You have to look
at compatible uses. You have to look at where our community is growing and what's best for
the overall community. George will talk about their attempts to try to buy that property, and |
think you'll see this is not frying to treat the family or the estate poorly. | think they made some
very fair offers to fry fo make this work, and they were rejected. They were rejected for 5 cents
or 10 cents a square foot. That's when this use was never planned for this particular piece of
property. They never should have had the expectation that this was going to be something
other than what it was intfended to be, and that was light industrial.  So | think we need to
consider that. We would recommend, and ask, that you not grant this change.
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2. George Wilson, 515 Shawnee Street, representing Hitachi as the President of the Hitachi
facility here — | did want fo say just a few things, and | appreciate Sean leaving the diagram up.
It will be helpful. Hitachi located here in the 80s — in '86-'87. At that time, all of this area was
zoned light industrial. That was very much part of Hitachi's inifiative — was to be in an industrial
park. They don't locate their faciliies in residential areas, for very good reasons. And, also, it
was close to the University, which made a very big benefit to them. Throughout the reviews,
again and again, in the 2020 and 2025 plan, it showed that this was designated industrial. But
there has been a lot of encroachment. All of these rezonings since the time Hitachi moved in
there. | do want to talk about a couple things. | appreciate Sean's characterization of our
meeting. | appreciate the question about the dairy, because, quite frankly, our comment was
we don't want to be the next Hiland Dairy. That is a problem. When you locate industrial
facilities directly next to residential, it is inevitably going to be problems. Have we had a lot of
complaints2 No. We have worked very, very hard not fo have complaints. We have fried to
support all our neighbors, and have tried to accommodate them as much as they've fried to
accommodate us.

There was an incorrect statement made about the price for the property. We actually
bid 5 cents a square foot above Aspen’s property price. That was a specific intent fo show we
were not trying to undercut anything or force anything info a lower price. We did, however,
offer that same price per square foot for the homestead. That makes that piece of property
where the homestead is — value from that proposal at about $400,000, which is above fhe
market for that area for a home. So the price was actually above theirs. What we were
requested was then buy the house again on top of the price we just paid for that property, and
that's the point where we felt like it was becoming too expensive for us fo approach that as a
property purchase.

I's been characterized that we have plenty of room, and that is one of the things we are
looking at. We have an active project with a local architect designing our next expansion. This
is a key element for us as a corporation. We currently have about 500 employees. But we are
always pushing fo try to expand our operation and our business in Norman. This property is the
key for that business in Norman. It was noted we do have plans and the current plans that the
architect is working on is two-phase expansion. The first one, which is the one we did show at
the meeting with Aspen, does come almost to that property line. It does encompass that
access road to the oil well. There are agreements with the oil company that we can share
access — we just cannot prohibit their access. So our building expansion that is currently in
development actually extends about 100 feet north of here. There is limitation, as has been
indicated, because there is an oil well on our property as well, that we cannot come all the way
out, but it takes basically and puts our main employee entrance along that property line. As we
said, in order to be environmentally sound, we did not want to add roof space and then add
parking again on tfop of that, so we plan to put the parking underneath the building. That puts
the building, at current design, about 50 feet tall. That will put a 50" building probably about 60’
off that property line, with the access for the employee parking directly next to it. Thisis currently
being reviewed by the architects, of course, on feasibility fo make sure all permits are met. That
access for parking is — we operate in many times 24 hours a day, seven days a week. We
actually do operate the distribution center 365 days a year. That means that there will be fraffic
next fo these houses throughout the year at 24 hours a day — not necessarily continuous, of
course. But at shift changes, it will be very, very heavy. That also puts the fruck docks much,
much closer than it is currently shown. | will say that we also have, within that same plan, a
phase two, which expands off the other end, because the comment was made that we have
plenty of acreage on the other side. The shape of this property. and the need to have
contiguous space, dictates that we have to expand off this core. As we move this direction, we
are limited by the shape of the property. The farther we go out, that moves the employee
parking almost — probably an eighth of a mile down the road from their actual workspace. So it
has been reviewed.

| appreciate the comment that we can easily move this parking lof, and | appreciate
that recommendation, because that's another million and a half dollar cost to us to move thaft
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parking lot. Believe me, we've checked. It is in our plan to also do that, but not in the first
phase. It is to maximize the utilization of our property, based on the shape of our property and
the need to have contiguous space. It is very important for us fo have the ability o expand,
and that is one of our key elements — in order to know that we can expand in this site and
expand without complaints.

Hitachi, if you look on their website, is very much about social structure — about giving
back to the culture of the community and has been a big part of our efforts here in Norman,
and we do not want to become the place for the next complaints. So that is why we
continually work to do that. We have accommodated almost every one of our neighbors in
some respect over the years. But we do have to reconsider if we are to know that we cannot
move in one direction or the other because of incompatible neighbors. Fundamentally for us,
we do view this as incompatible with our objectives. That's not an issue with the Todds, by any
means. We did try to buy the property. The price was — per square foot for the land value, was
actually 5% higher than was previously offered. But when it came to the home, it was asked that
that price per square foot plus an additional home, which would make that request — make for
that small piece well over a half million dollars. | appreciate the opportunity o talk about if.
We've characterized a lot what industrial users would fike, and yet | can't speak for all industrial
users. But there is a big difference between wanting fo live in a neighborhood with houses and
others that are — homeowners like 1o live in a neighborhood where other homeowners live. It's
the same with industrial users. That's why, when Hitachi located here, they viewed this as a
planned industrial area, because the uses of the property and the expectations of the property,
as well as the environment, is common among industrial users. So | think it's important to note
that you can't speak for an industrial user without being an industrial user, and that is one of my
key issues here. | think that's all I've got, but | appreciate the offer. We've always had a very
good relationship with the City and appreciate the opportunity to actually be able to come
and voice our concerns and hope for a positive outcome. Thank you.

3. Brent Armstrong, 1400 East Imhoff - We are to the west of the proposed site on the same
side of the street — on the south side. We have a maintenance and storage building that is
located on the far east side of our property. We have construction equipment. We're general
contractors. We're in the construction business. We work on a lot of our equipment out there
and it would be — | know they keep talking about Hitachi and they're showing 350 feet away,
but according to the way the drawing is shown, our maintenance facility — our maintenance
warehouse out there — we are about, | guess, 8 feet away from where the cars will be parked. |
don't know what kind of fencing that they're proposing, but we've got a filt-up concrete facility
out there that is, as | stated, on the east side of our property. Where that vacant area is, if you
look up there, that's usually full of our job site trailers, which, luckily, it's empty — that means
they're all out on jobs. All of our equipment is out right now, foo. But as the projects — because
we run on 12 to 14 month fime schedules — those come back in and they've got fo be worked
on and have maintenance done on them before they can go back out. With that, there's a fair
amount of noise that gets generated with working on that equipment. As it was stated, there is
land on the north side of the road that | think would be fitting for this project, but it seems like to
me that — or to us at Armsfrong — that this industrial. 1t's light industrial. We have the lof on the
corner that's to the west of us and that is commercial and it will be developed fairly soon and it
will be commercial. | can't see the need for any residential on this side. To the southwest of the
project, those are all automobile maintenance and different facilities that are associated with
that, so the whole west side, as well as the east side, is all industrial. | can't understand why
you'd want to stick a residential right in the middle of it. That's all | have. Thank you.

4, Helen Todd, 1600 East Imhoff Road - | guess I'm the one involved with the estate. | have
lived on this property all my life, except for ten years. | was born, in fact, on the property that
Hitachi currently has. During the war — or before the war started, when Japan bombed Pearl
Harbor, the federal government came along and took over 20 acres from my parents and
condemned it. That property then was added to others and became an auxiliary landing field.
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Affer the war was over, my parents fried to buy it back and they could not; the government
would not sell it to them. They, in tum, gave it to the University and the University then was
supposed to have it only for landing field purposes. So what they did was to go and buy some
property on the northeast of 24ih and Highway 9 and put in an auxiliary landing strip that was
made of dirt. They then sold the property to Hitachi. Hitachi has been a good neighbor. They
were talking about complaints about noise and what have you. They have been a good
neighbor to us, as far as noise is concerned. The frain track makes much more noise than they
do, which is right next door. That has not been a problem, as far as noise. But then, since that
time, on top of that, Highway 9 has been taken through there and the State took that and the
State said, you know, we're not going to pay you much - the same as the government. We
don't pay you much, but you'll get it when something happens later, you know. You can make
that up by your property. Well, then the State took Highway 9 and on both sides of the road -
they had property on the west side as well as the east side. And after that they widened
Highway 77, which was only two lanes at the fime, and they now have it four lanes, plus an
additional tumn lane, and they took the porch off of the house that we were living in at the time.
No problem with that — you'll make up the money later on. Okay. So now I'm trying to make up
some of the money. | was offered 5 cents more per square foot by Hitachi than | was by
Breckenridge, but when | asked them - Breckenridge said that they would buy the property
without buying the 2.5 acres — they were interested in my 2.5 acres but they would buy the
property even though they didn't get that 2.5, and lafer on if | wanted to sell it, then they would
deal with me and perhaps buy it at that time, which | thought was - | would like to live out my
life in that property, if possible. Hitachi, in turn, though, would not pay me anything additional for
my house or my cellar or my water well or my out buildings to help us move. We've got over 51
years of accumulated junk, but some of that would be kept and we would want to move it. We
would have to buy a new house — someplace to move into and they would not give us anything
for that except for the same price for our land as the other land that belongs to the estate.

| have been trying to sell this since my mother died, which was in 2002. 1 have not had
too many offers — | have had some, but normally what happens is we have a downturn in our
economy and everybody all at once becomes disinterested and so | have not had any of those
come to fruition at all. So | would like to go ahead and sell it, if possible. | would like to say that |
support Breckenridge and | hope that you can see fit fo go ahead and change that property so
that they can have it. With the current price, | would have to have something for my house.
Hitachi says they will not buy it unless | sell my property also. That was the stipulation. | said you
could go ahead and buy that and let us live on it. No. We would have to move out. So that
was all part of the stipulation. But rather than me having to fake that much money out of my
pocket to buy a new house and other things - | just did not think that was a good offer. | have
tried to sell it commercially. Lowes came in and wanted to put a store on the east side of fown
and they wanted to put it on that property. Then, again, we had a downturn and so that did
not come fo fruition. They would have come and asked for it to be commercial rather than
industrial.  So it would have been something different, even. | sold a litfle over 3 acres of
property since my mother died, and | did not receive enough money for that. | came to the
City. They said it was zoned as industrial. | said it's really good prime land for commercial and is
there any chance at all that it can be zoned commercially? No, there was not. There's no way
at all it will rezone. Well, within two years' time it was zoned commercial by the people who had
bought it. So | would just like for you to consider the letter that | wrote and also any of the
statements that | may have made. If you have any questions, I'd be happy to answer them.

5. Chairman Lewis — Mrs. Todd, | do have one question. We've heard from both sides, and
you're the party that is in the middle. You are the property owner. My question is simply very
blunt. Hitachi came fo you and offered a price, and Mr. Vatterot's company came fo you and
offered a price. In your best judgment, the land that your family has owned since — | believe you
said the 1940s.

Mrs. Todd - No, no. Since before the 20s.

Chairman Lewis — So how long has your family owned this piece of property?
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Mrs. Todd — Well, my parents owned it for — | know it had to be in the teens. My parents
were married in 1923. My father had already been married before and had two children, and
he had lived in that house then. Then my mother and my father married in 1923. So it's been in
my family over - since 1910. And it's always been zoned rural.

Chairman Lewis — It would be fair to say, then, this piece of property has been in your
family’s history for a very, very long fime.

Mrs. Todd — Yes.

Chairman Lewis — And pretty close to when the City of Norman became incorporated.

Mrs. Todd - Yes.

Chairman Lewis — So, in your judgment, what do you think should happen with this piece
of property?

Mrs. Todd — | think, based upon the fact that the apartments that are across the street -
there was nothing over there. We get along real well with the apartments and they don't really
cause that much trouble. | thought they would, but they don't. And | would like fo see it fo be
aparfments.

Chairman Lewis — And one last question. Had Hitachi come to you and been willing fo
purchase your land, including your home, and relocate you and your husband to a new home,
would you have sold it to Hitachi gladly?

Mrs. Todd - | probably would have.

Chairman Lewis — Thank you so much for your comments.

Mrs. Todd — I've got six other heirs that are all involved, and so | really need to do
something with the property.

DISCUSSION AND ACTION BY THE PLANNING COMMISSION:

Curlis McCarty moved to recommend adoption of Resolution No. R-1213-113, Ordinance No. O-
1213-41, and approval of PP-1213-16, the Preliminary Plat for ASPEN HEIGHTS ADDITION, A
Planned Unit Development to the City Council. Roberta Pailes seconded the motion.

There being no further discussion, a vote on the motion was taken with the following result:

YEAS Curtis McCarty, Roberta Pailes, Dave Boeck, Chris Lewis
NAYES Jim Gasaway, Cindy Gordon, Sandy Bahan, Tom Knotts
MEMBERS ABSENT Andy Sherrer

Ms. Tromble announced that the motion, o recommend approval of Resolution No. R-1213-113,
Ordinance No. O-1213-41, and PP-1213-16 to City Council, failed by a vote of 4-4.
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